FILED04 SID J, WHITE MAR 10 1998 CLENK, SUPREME COURT ₿y_ **Chief Deputy Clerk**

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Supreme Court Case No. 89,012

٠

\$1.4 4

1 1

Complainant,

v.

₹,

٠

ALEC J. ROSS,

Respondent.

Respondent's Initial Brief

On Petition for Review

RICHARD B. MARX Attorney for Respondent 1221 Brickell Avenue Suite 1010 Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone (305) 536-2400 Florida Bar No. 050175

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

¢7

Respondent received a ninety-one (91) suspension and remains suspended from the practice of law by order of the Florida Supreme Court dated November 15, 1990. (See Supreme Court Case No. 75,358).

Although this action arose as a result of a complaint filed by Roger Quisenberry (hereinafter referred to as "Quisenberry"), pertaining to Respondent's actions in the case of County Collection Services, Inc. vs. Roger Quisenberry, Case No. L93-1433 AH, in the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Palm Beach County, Florida. (hereinafter referred to as the "underlying case"). None of the violations with which Respondent was charged by the Bar in its complaint are those specifically raised in his complaint. Quisenberry was the owner of real estate property at Hypoluxo Village, in Palm Beach County, Florida. On or about August 2, 1994, County Collection Services, Inc., obtained a Summary Judgment in Foreclosure against Quisenberry's property for failure to pay a code enforcement lien. On or about August 25, 1994, Quisenberry's property was purchased at a foreclosure sale by Robert Lazar (hereinafter referred to as "Lazar"). Quisenberry retained attorney Kim St. James (hereinafter referred to as "St. James") to represent him in setting aside the foreclosure sale. St. James filed a Motion to Set Aside the Foreclosure Sale together with an affidavit of Quisenberry in support of the motion. The Quisenberry affidavit stated that he was out of town during the time of the finalization of the foreclosure sale and that he had not received notice of the foreclosure sale date. (R.R. 2).

Respondent had had a prior dispute with Quisenberry in an unrelated matter involving a landlord/tenant dispute. Respondent has continuously maintained that he is owed money from Quisenberry as a result of the prior dispute. Respondent, is a real estate investor and a foreclosure buyer and became aware of the Motion to Set Aside and the Quisenberry affidavit, by reviewing the Court file and knew personally that the information contained in the affidavit was false.

۰.

In early November 1994, Respondent contacted Lazar and advised him that he had information regarding the falsity of the Quisenberry affidavit and offered to buy an interest in Lazar's purchase and to provide his services as a real estate investor and foreclosure expert in a an effort to defeat Quisenberry's Motion to Vacate Foreclosure Sale. Respondent then contacted Lazar's attorney, Steven Newburgh, and made the same representations to him. As a result of Respondent's telephone call to Newburgh, a witness subpoena issued for the deposition of Respondent. The deposition was scheduled for December 8, 1994.

Upon receiving the Notice of Taking Deposition of Ross, St. James contacted the Respondent to find out what Respondent knew about this matter. Respondent advised St.James of his dispute with Quisenberry and that in exchange for the monies owed to him by Quisenberry, he could make himself unavailable for deposition and/or for service of the subpoena for deposition and would be unavailable for trial. Respondent also stated to St. James that he was going on vacation and if Quisenberry paid him the money owed him, he could leave town sooner or remain on vacation longer. In December 1994,

Respondent contacted St. James again to inquire as to an answer to his proposition to settle his other matter with Quisenberry. Respondent's proposition was rejected. In the interim, Respondent continued to send numerous faxes to Newburgh, outlining his expertise in foreclosure matters, continued to provide him with additional documents to help defeat the Quisenberry motion, and continued to offer to buy an interest in the property purchased by Lazar. These overtures were also rejected.

e 1

The process server for Newburgh was unable to serve Respondent, and Newburgh requested a continuance. Subsequently, Respondent did testify and Quisenberry's Motion to Set Aside the Foreclosure Sale was defeated.

On December 13, 1994, Quisenberry filed a complaint with The Florida Bar against Respondent, which is the subject matter of these proceedings. This matter was heard by Grievance Committee (11E) on February 21, 1996. The Grievance Committee found no probable cause under Rule 4-8.4(b) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar (criminal act that reflects adversely on lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness, or fitness...), probable cause under Rule 4-8.4(c) (engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud., deceit, or misrepresentation), and deferred their vote on Rule 4-8.4(d) (engaged in conduct in connection with the practice of law that is prejudicial...). This charge was latter dismissed by the grievance committee. However, it did find probable cause from the St. James' testimony relating to Respondent's request for money in exchange for his not being available to be served. Subsequently, The Florida Bar filed the instant action. The complaint is based solely on a violation of Rule 4-8.4(c) and accuses Respondent

exclusively of being "dishonest" per se. Respondent's actions which are alleged to be dishonest are his failure to directly (and promptly) notify the trial judge in the underlying action of his belief that Quisenberry had filed a fraudulent affidavit and his alleged offer to St. James to make himself unavailable to be served for deposition, and out of town for deposition, if he was paid money, and to his offer to allegedly sell his testimony to Newburgh's client.

• •

The Honorable Terri Ann Miller was duly appointed as a Referee in this matter and a final hearing took place on July 15, 1997. The referee found Respondent guilty of violating Rule 4-8.4(c). A hearing on the penalty phase took place on September 26, 1997, and on September 30, 1997 the Referee entered her final report. This report was drafted by counsel for the Bar and Counsel for Respondent was not given the opportunity to provide any input in the drafting of the report, or the findings of fact.

The Referee recommended that Respondent be disbarred pursuant to Standard 5.11(b) and (f) of the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. Further, she found aggravating circumstances pursuant to Standard 9.22(a) prior disciplinary offenses, (b) dishonest or selfish motive, and (g) refusal to acknowledge the wrongful nature of conduct. The Referee found no mitigating factors. Respondent take issue with the Referee's findings of fact and recommended discipline of disbarment and asks this Court not to approve her recommendation. Respondent filed a timely Petition for Review and this Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Art. V, Section 15, Fla. Const.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Bar accuses the Respondent of violating Rule 4-8.4© as it relates solely to the term "dishonesty". The rule does not define the term "Dishonesty". The lack of definition in the rule is fatal to its continued validity. A statute or rule which does not give people of ordinary intelligence fair notice of what constitutes forbidden conduct is unconstitutionally "vague".

The referee's findings of fact were clearly erroneous and lacking in evidentiary support. The referee made no specific findings of fact as to what acts on the part of the Respondent were "dishonest". Not a single findings of fact in the report is corroborated by a citation to the testimony offered during the trial or disciplinary hearing. The referee's findings of fact are contrary to the testimony of Newburgh and St. James.

The referee did not make independent findings of fact. The report of the referee was ghost written by Bar counsel, and Respondent was not given the opportunity to challenge the findings of fact. When an interested party is allowed is to draft a judicial opinion without response by or notice to the opposing side, the temptation to overreach and exaggerate is overwhelming. The presumption of correctness with which the referee's report comes, has been overcome by a showing that said findings are clearly erroneous and lacking in evidentiary support.

The recommended penalty of disbarment is excessive and contrary to law. The

Bar and the referee relied on cases for disbarment without distinguishing them and applying their facts to the case at bar. To approve the referee's report would create great disparity in discipline and be contrary to the stated goals of the Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanction.

;

 ${\bf t}^{(1)}$

ARGUMENT I

÷,

ι ·

THE REFEREE COMMITTED ERROR BY DENYING RESPONDENT'S MOTION TO DISMISS, BASED ON RULE 4-8.4© BEING UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VOID FOR VAGUENESS

The Bar accuses the respondent of a rule violation relating solely to the word "Dishonesty". (See the Bar's Notice of Service of Answers to interrogatories 4 and 6). This charge was brought under Rule 4-8.4(c) which states that a lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation. The Bar maintains that Respondent committed a dishonest act per se. The rule does not define the terms "dishonesty" or "dishonest". Additionally, there is no legal definition contained in the Florida Statutes, of any substance, that would lead to the elements that would show a reasonable individual what it means. The word "dishonest" does not convey sufficiently definite warnings as to the proscribed conduct that people of common understanding would positively know the actual prohibited conduct.

The vagueness of the word dishonest, or its misapplication by the Bar, is readily apparent. Dishonesty has commonly been associated with not telling the truth. None of the testimony given by Respondent's accusers (St. James and Newburgh) is cited by the referee, as Respondent having told either one of them something that was false.

The lack of definition in this Rule is fatal to its continued validity. <u>Warren vs.</u> <u>State</u>, 572 So.2d 1376 (Fla. 1991). In the <u>Warren</u> case, this Court struck down a statute which used the term "ill fame", as unconstitutionally vague. The Court reasoned that a

statute which does not give people of ordinary intelligence fair notice of what constitutes forbidden conduct is "vague" for purposes of determining whether the statute is constitutional.

The fundamental concern of the vagueness doctrine is that people be placed on notice of what conduct is forbidden or illegal. The standard for a constitutionally impermissible rule or law is whether it contains such vague language that a person of common intelligence must speculate about its meaning and then be subject to punishment if his guess is wrong. <u>State vs. Wershow</u>, 343 So.2d 605 (Fla. 1977). See also F.S.A. Const. Art 1 S 9; U.S.C.A. Const. Amends. 5, 14. Thus, a vague law is one which fails to give adequate notice of what conduct is prohibited and which, because of its imprecision, may invite arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement. <u>State vs. Rawlins</u>, 623 So.2d 600 (Fla. 1993).

In the <u>Wershow</u> case, this Court declared a statute unconstitutionally vague. It stated that the test for vagueness is much less severe where the maximum penalty is loss of office or position. In the case at bar, Respondent is being disbarred based on this rule.

The vagueness and ambiguity of this rule is apparent in the Referee's Report. The Report fails to state exactly what in the Respondent's conduct was "dishonest". The referee never found that Respondent was obligated to report this information to the trial judge in the underlying case. It appears, from the record, that the findings of facts of the Referee may be couched in allegations of attempted extortion and bribery. (See D.T.8).

On June 17, 1997 Respondent brought this issue before the referee by way of a

Motion to Dismiss, founded on the constitutionally of Rule 4-8.4[©]. The referee denied said motion and therefore committed error in doing so.

÷

• '

ARGUMENT II

• •

THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT WERE CLEARLY ERRONEOUS AND LACKING IN EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT

The referee's findings of fact are not supported by competent and substantial evidence due to the fact that they are in significant part, clearly erroneous. Although the referee's findings of fact enjoy a presumption of correctness, they can be overturned if they are clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. <u>The Florida Bar v. Niles</u>, 644 So.2d 504,506 (Fla. 1994).

The referee made no specific findings of fact as to what acts on the part of the Respondent were "dishonest". The report merely states the conclusion that Respondent should be found guilty of violating Rule 4-8.4 \mathbb{O} (R.R. 3). Not a single finding of fact in the report is corroborated by a citation to testimony offered during the trial or the disciplinary hearing. In the case of <u>The Florida Bar v. Vining</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly, S82, S83 (Fla. Feb. 12, 1998), the respondent attacked the referee's findings of fact. This court, in rejecting respondent's arguments and approving the referee's findings of fact, specifically stated that, "each finding of fact in the referee's report was corroborated by a citation to the testimony offered". Therefore, it can be inferred that there should be specific references to the record when findings of fact are made.

Based upon the Bar's sworn response to interrogatories, the Bar narrowed the scope of its complaint to only "conduct involving dishonesty" within the meaning of Rule 4-8.4© (T.T. 13, 19). Therefore, the case did not involve fraud, or misrepresentation.

However, in the report, the referee finds Respondent guilty of violating Rule 4-8.4[°] without making any distinctions. (R.R.4).

• •

The referee states that St. James "believed Respondent was soliciting a bribe" (R.R. 3-4), but does not make a specific finding that Respondent actually solicited a bribe. The referee then goes on to state that, "St. James rejected Respondent's attempt at extortion", (R.R.4), without making a finding that there was an extortion committed or any type of analysis as to the elements of extortion. Again, there is no reference to the testimony confirming these findings of fact, nor the exact acts of the Respondent which constitute "dishonesty" within the meaning of Rule 4-8.4©.

Respondent's conversation with St. James did not meet the common law definition of extortion (See Black's Law Dictionary, 6th Ed.,p.584 (1990)), nor the statutory definition of extortion. (See F.S. 836.05). Respondent did not tell St. James anything about the case, according to her own testimony. (See T.T. 57-83). However, it appears that the referee, without making a specific findings of fact, considered Respondent guilty of bribery and extortion, and extrapolated that feeling into a conclusion that he violated Rule 4-8.4©, and thus those actions had to be dishonest. (D.T.8). The referee, however, does not make this part of the record. In fact, virtually all the cases relied upon by the Bar and the referee in support of the punishment of disbarment deal with conduct involving either bribery or extortion. (D.T. 14).

In the report, the referee characterized Newburgh's testimony as the Respondent demanding participation in the Lazar foreclosure purchase, in exchange for information.

(R.R.3). This is a mischaracterization of the record. The testimony at trial was clear that Respondent wanted to "buy" an interest in the property (T.T.36), and was not selling information. In fact, one of the letters that Respondent faxed to Newburgh clearly stated, "If your client is willing to sell me an interest as a co-owner in the case and with my assistance, there will be a much better chance of success in defeating Mr. Quisenberry's motion to vacate the foreclosure sale." (T.T.36) (Emphasis added). Respondent was trying to purchase an interest in the property and offered his services as an expert in the area of foreclosures. The referee failed to consider this letter (even though it was admitted into evidence), otherwise, the findings of fact would have been different.

a 1

ARGUMENT III

THE REFEREE DID NOT MAKE INDEPENDENT FINDINGS OF FACT

The referee did not make independent findings of fact, but rather, relied on the findings of fact prepared by Bar counsel and denied Respondent the opportunity to challenge them.

At the hearing on discipline, the first thing Respondent's counsel did was to challenge the findings of fact (D.T. 17-18). The referee responded by saying, "We are not going to do that today". (D.T. 17). Respondent countered that, "the penalty is dependent on the findings of fact. If they[facts] are erroneous, then the penalty that will be provided will be based on an erroneous set of facts". (D.T. 18). The referee's response was simply, "You can argue that to the Supreme Court". (D.T. 18). Respondent has obviously accepted the invitation.

Although the referee provided Respondent's counsel with a proposed copy of the report prepared by Bar counsel, to allow him, "an opportunity to review that as well" (D.T.6), it was a meaningless act because he was precluded from challenging it.

In the Vining case, respondent challenged the referee's findings of fact based upon the ground that the referee considered a circuit court judgment and the referee incorporated some of the language contained therein. Id. At S83. In approving the referee's report, this court placed special emphasis on the fact that "each findings of fact in the referee's report is corroborated by a citation to the testimony offered during the disciplinary hearing, thus, rebutting respondent's argument that the referee merely adopted another's findings of fact. Accordingly, we approve the referee's findings of fact".

Such is not the case here. In the instant case, the referee merely adopted the proposed report prepared by Bar counsel and refused to entertain any challenges to it by Respondent. (D.T. 18). Allowing litigants to ghost write opinions creates a very apparent danger. The United States Supreme Court has held that when an interested party is permitted to draft a judicial order without response by or notice to the opposing side, the temptation to overreach and exaggerate is overwhelming. <u>Anderson v. City of Bessener City N.C.</u>, 105 S.Ct. 1504,1510(1985). The U.S. Supreme Court has often criticized courts for their verbatim adoption of findings of fact prepared by the prevailing party, particularly when those findings have taken the form of conclusory statements, unsupported by citation to the record. <u>Id</u>.

It is clear from the record that the referee's report prepared by Bar counsel was conclusory in nature, without making any specific findings of fact as to what actions on the part of the Respondent were "dishonest". This flaw is further compounded by the fact that each findings of fact failed to make any citation to the testimony, and Respondent was prohibited from challenging it. The presumption of correctness with which the referee's findings of fact comes has been overcome by a showing that said findings, with respect to the Newburgh and St. James testimony, and the failure to give citations to the testimony are clearly erroneous and lack evidentiary support. *See Niles supra*. Accordingly, this Court should reject the referee's findings of fact.

ARGUMENT IV

THE RECOMMENDED DISBARMENT IS EXCESSIVE AND CONTRARY TO LAW

The sanction resulting from a Bar disciplinary action must serve three purposes: The sanction must be fair to society; the sanction must be fair to the attorney; and the sanction must be severe enough to deter other attorneys from similar misconduct. <u>The</u> <u>Florida Bar v. Neu</u>, 597 So.2d 266, 269 (Fla. 1992). This Court's review of a referee's recommendations as to disciplinary measures is broader than that afforded to factual findings because the ultimate responsibility to order an appropriate sanction rests with this Court. <u>The Florida Bar v. Rue</u>, 643 So.2d 1080, 1082 (Fla. 1994).

The stated purpose of the Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions are threefold: (1) the consideration of all relevant factors appropriate to imposing a certain level of sanction, (2) the consideration of the appropriate weight of such factors, in light of the stated goals of lawyer discipline, and (3) consistency in imposing those Standards. Prior to considering the imposition of the Standards, Standard 3.0 asks the referee to consider the following questions: (1) What duty was violated? (2) What was the lawyer's mental state? (3) What was the potential or actual injury caused by the lawyer's misconduct?

(4) Did there exist any aggravating or mitigating factors?

The only factors, pursuant to Standard 3.0, that the referee appears to have considered in the report are aggravating factors (prior disciplinary offenses, dishonest or

selfish motive and refusal to acknowledge the wrongful nature of conduct). The referee fails to make a specific finding as to what duty was violated by Respondent.

÷ .

In Support of disbarment, the report mentions Rules 5.11(b) and (1) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. The referee states, I recommend that the Respondent be disbarred, pursuant to 5.11(b) and (f) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar". (See R.R.4). Rule 5.11(b) deals with **Trust Accounts Required**, and Rule 5.11 (f) deals with **Unidentifiable Trust fund Accumulations and Trust Funds Held for Missing Owner** These rules have nothing to do with the issues involved in the case at bar. It is clear that this was a mistake on the part of the drafter of the report, and the referee apparently signed the report without making an independent judgment as to what was placed before her. This is further evidence of the dangers that the U.S. Supreme Court alluded to when party litigants are allowed to ghost write judicial decrees. *See Anderson Supra*.

The authority which the referee was probably referring to here, were Standards 5. 11(b) and (f) of the Florida Standard for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. Subsection (b) states that "a lawyer engages in serious criminal conduct Respondent was not charged with having committed any criminal conduct here. In fact the referee stated that "So I don't see where B would come into anything anyway. I think it applies when it is a party to a Suit. So I don't think that really comes into it". (D.T. 35). Further, the referee acknowledged that, "I would definitely agree that you were not prosecuted for anything here. That goes without saying. That would be distinguishing as to the cases that the Bar did give me as far as criminal prosecution... As to the acts themselves, I would have to

look at them and see, in essence, were they the same act. However, you weren't prosecuted. But I will review the case law." (D.T. 53). Based upon the report, it appears that the referee did not consider the case law. Thus, the report is inconsistent with the record. Even though the referee admitted that [Standard] 5.11(b) did not apply, it was in the report prepared by Bar counsel. This is further evidence of the danger of using ghostwriters for crafting judicial decrees. *See Anderson. supra.*

Subsection (f) states "a lawyer engages in any other intentional conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation that seriously adversely reflects on the lawyer's fitness to practice" This standard is inapplicable to the case at bar because the Bar never charges Respondent with fraud, deceit or misrepresentation. Respondent was not a practicing lawyer at any time material hereto. His was merely functioning as a private businessman.

Respondent's conduct, although foolish and ill advised, cannot be characterized as intentional, as you would characterize the culpable state of mind of a criminal defendant. Even though the Bar never charged Respondent with bribery or extortion, nor were any criminal charges brought against him, it still proceeds to rely on a litany of cases for the proposition that disbarment was appropriate here, which involve either criminal bribery or extortion.

The Bar relied on a number of cases for the proposition that bribery and extortion require disbarment, without any type of analysis of the facts and circumstances of those cases and applying those sets of facts to the case at bar. (D.T. 15-18). Those case are

distinguishable and inapplicable to the instant case. The Bar relies on these cases merely for their desired result of disbarment, without regard to the facts. When Respondent's conduct is juxtaposed to other cases such as <u>Vining</u>, which involved far more egregious conduct (multiple offenses involving taking disputed funds from the registry of the court without noticing other interested parties), and he receives a three year suspension, while Respondent gets disbarred, it shows a tremendous disparity in discipline. In <u>The Florida</u> <u>Bar v. Kleinfeld</u>, 648 So.2d 700 (Fla. 1994), the respondent lied under oath and this court imposed a three year suspension.

¢.

7

It is interesting to note that while the Grievance Committee found no probable cause that the Respondent committed any criminal act involving dishonesty, the referee's report in couched in terms of her belief, solely from St. James's "belief", that Ross had committed a criminal act, namely extortion and/or bribery.

For this court to approve the referee's recommendation of disbarment would create a tremendous disparity in the imposition of disciplinary sanctions. This disparity is contrary to stated purpose of the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, which are designed to promote consistency in the imposition of disciplinary sanctions for the same or similar offenses within and among jurisdictions. See Standard 1.3.

The referee also failed to make any findings of fact that Respondent's conduct constituted bribery and extortion. This type of rationale, without distinguishing the misconduct involved, will inevitably lead to illogical and inflexible results, and that is what has happened in the case at bar. The Bar and the referee have failed to evaluate all

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