FIL 810 J. W

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

 Supreme Court Case
 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

 No. 89,012
 By______

 Ohief Deputy Clerk

Complainant,

v.

ALEC J. ROSS,

Respondent.

Complainant's Answer Brief

CYNTHIA LINDBLOOM Bar Counsel THE FLORIDA BAR #0016421 The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Avenue Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445 JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS Staff Counsel THE FLORIDA BAR #0253847 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 222-5286 JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director THE FLORIDA BAR #123390 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 222-5286

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In regard to his first argument, Respondent has failed to overcome the presumption in favor of constitutionality. He has presented no authority which holds that the word "dishonesty" is void for vagueness. The authority cited by the Bar supports the opposite conclusion.

Second, Respondent has failed to establish that the Referee's findings were clearly erroneous or lacking evidentiary support. There are numerous statements by the witnesses, attorneys on opposite sides of a case, to the effect that Respondent sought to profit by either appearing or not appearing as a witness. There is also substantial evidence that the Respondent sought to avoid service.

Respondent failed to object to the procedure suggested by the Referee for drafting the Referee's Report. Therefore, that issue is not properly before this Court. The Referee utilized the standard practice of permitting the prevailing party to draft the report and providing a copy of the proposed document to opposing counsel. Assuming <u>arguendo</u> that this Court will consider the issue, it is, nevertheless, apparent that the authority advanced by the Respondent is inapplicable to this factual context.

Finally, the Respondent is a suspended attorney. That is an aggravating factor. Even without that factor The Florida Standards

- 4 -

for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions mandate disbarment. Furthermore, numerous cases involving similar misconduct resulted in disbarment.

POINTS ON APPEAL

Ι

.

THE RESPONDENT HAS FAILED TO OVERCOME THE PRESUMPTION FAVORING THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF STATUTES.

II

THE RESPONDENT HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THAT THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS WERE CLEARLY ERRONEOUS OR LACKING EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT.

III

THE RESPONDENT HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE ANY ERROR IN REGARD TO THE PROCEDURE FOR DETERMINING THE FACTUAL FINDINGS.

IV

DISBARMENT IS THE APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINE.

RESPONDENT HAS FAILED TO OVERCOME THE PRESUMPTION FAVORING THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF STATUTES. (REPHRASING THE RESPONDENT'S ISSUE #1)

The Respondent argues that the Referee erred by not dismissing the Bar complaint due to unconstitutionality. Specifically, he contends that Rule 4-8.4(c) is void for vagueness, insofar as the meaning of "dishonesty" is not clear. Respondent's position is sustained by neither logic nor authority.

There is a presumption in favor of the constitutionality of statutes. <u>Florida Department of Education v. Glasser</u>, 622 So.2d 944 (Fla. 1993). A statute need not furnish a detailed plan and specification of acts or conduct prohibited. <u>Wells v. State</u>, 402 So.2d 402 (Fla. 1981).

The word "dishonesty" is obviously a word of common usage. Where a statute does not define a term of common usage, such words are construed according to their plain and ordinary sense. <u>State</u> <u>v. Hagen</u>, 387 So.2d 943 (Fla. 1980).

The lack of definition in a rule, does not <u>ipso facto</u> render it unconstitutional. <u>State v. Barnes</u>, 686 So.2d 633 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996). Respondent suggests the contrary by citing <u>Warren v. State</u>, 572 So.2d 1376 (Fla. 1991). That case merely held that "ill fame"

- 7 -

is an antiquated term. Hopefully, "dishonesty" is not an antiquated term. In the absence of a definition, the plain and ordinary meaning of a term can be ascertained by reference to a dictionary. <u>Barnes</u>, <u>supra</u>.

THE RESPONDENT HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THAT THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS WERE CLEARLY ERRONEOUS OR LACKING EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT.

The Respondent correctly recognizes the presumption of correctness in favor of the Referee's factual findings. Furthermore, it is axiomatic that the respondent must establish that the findings are clearly erroneous or lacking evidentiary support. The Florida Bar v. Niles, 644 So.2d 504 (Fla. 1994). The Respondent has clearly failed to overcome that presumption and has failed to establish that findings were clearly erroneous or lacking evidentiary support.

There was ample testimony at the final hearing regarding conversations with the Respondent in which he sought to profit financially in exchange for his testimony (T. 23, 25, 26). Attorney Newburgh testified as to such a conversation. (T. 25, 26). His client, Robert Lazar, reported a similar conversation to him (T. 23-25). Another attorney, Kim St. James testified that the Respondent offered to take a longer vacation, during the time scheduled for discovery, if he received some additional cash (T. 69, TFB Exh. 6). Respondent admitted to the conversation. His explanation was hardly exculpatory:

Well, yes. During the conversation I said,

II

- 9 -

"I'm going away on vacation. By the way, if I had extra spending money, I might stay longer or leave earlier. I sort of inflected my voice, so I thought the average person would think it's like a little tease thing (T. 131-132).

There was also substantial testimony regarding Respondent's efforts to avoid service. The Referee found that he did avoid service in an effort to not testify (ROR, para. Q).

Respondent's deposition was scheduled for December 8, 1994 (T. 27). When the process server attempted service, he encountered a posted notice that Respondent would be away until December 20, 1994, <u>one day after</u> the date of the final hearing. (T. 30).

Respondent suggested that the process server was mistaken and that December 2, 1994 was the date on the notice. (T. 130). Respondent testified that he had gone on vacation from November 28-December 2, 1994 (T. 130) but subsequently backed off of that testimony and confirmed that he took only a one day trip during that time period (T. 131).

Respondent seeks to rewrite the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar by misapplying, <u>The Florida Bar v. Vining</u>, Case 84,641, Opinion filed February 12, 1998. A review of the Referee's Report will confirm that every requirement under Rule 3-7.6(k) was met. <u>Vining</u> does not add a new requirement that each finding of fact pursuant to 3-7.6(k)(1)(A) must contain a citation to the record, nor does any other portion of the rule, nor does any other case. The discussion of factual citations to the record contained in the Referee's report in <u>Vining</u> was merely a response to an argument that the Referee adopted findings of fact from a different proceeding. THE RESPONDENT HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE ANY ERROR IN REGARD TO THE PROCEDURE FOR DETERMINING THE FACTUAL FINDINGS. (REPHRASING RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT III)

The record before this Court establishes that the determination of the factual findings was made by the Referee after a full hearing. At the conclusion of the July 15, 1997, hearing the Referee stated:

"THE REFEREE: All right. I guess that will conclude this hearing.

I want to see the court reporter. I want one portion of the testimony read back to me, which I think I'm permitted to do since I'm the trier of fact.

I'm going to rule on this and like I said, I want to review all the documents and the rest of the file.

Let's see. What's today, Tuesday? I should have a decision by Friday at the latest.

Basically what I will do is, I will get in touch with -- if I'm not mistaken, either way, there are supposed to be findings of fact and decisions of law. So I'll contact the party who is going to prevail and ask them to prepare the paperwork and then I'll call the other party as well and inform them of my decision.

Then if we need to set a further hearing, we'll set it up some time next week of the week -- like I said, although I'm technically on leave as of the 25th, I have the week after that available if we need to have a further hearing." (T. 154-155)

MR. MARX: Thank you Judge. (T. 155)

If there was any defect in regard to the proposed findings, or the circumstance that the prevailing party was asked to draft the Referee's Report, no objection to the procedure or the findings was made and, therefore, the issue is waived. <u>Morales v. Sperry Rand</u> <u>Corp.</u>, 601 So.2d 539 (Fla. 1992)

Respondent could obviously have objected to the procedure stated on the record by the Referee, but did not. Respondent could also have sought rehearing or filed a motion of his choice in regard to the procedure for summarizing the factual findings, but did not.

The only initiative taken by Respondent's counsel was an attempt to revisit the factual findings at the hearing set for determining discipline. (Respondent's brief, p. 14). No motion of any kind was pending, or set for that hearing and, therefore, there was no basis for rearguing the facts at the disciplinary hearing.

The issue presented by respondent is elusive since he does not contend that he was not given a copy of the proposed order. Furthermore, the Respondent has not established any fact finding errors. There is no authority which supports the premise that an

- 13 -

order drafted by the opposing party is <u>ipso facto</u> a source of error. The case cited by the Respondent, <u>Anderson v. Bessemer</u> <u>City</u>, 470 U.S. 564, 105 S.Ct. 1504 (1985), adds nothing to his argument. <u>Anderson</u> held that there was a lack of evidence of uncritical acceptance of an order prepared by the prevailing party. The facts in the instant case point to a similar lack of evidence.

DISBARMENT IS THE APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINE.

Respondent, a suspended attorney, engaged in conduct which undermines the legal system. He sought to obtain a financial reward for (1) telling the apparent truth and/or (2) avoiding testifying as to the apparent truth. In <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Riccardi</u>, 264 So.2d 5, 6 (Fla. 1972) this Court declared:

> "Such conduct strikes at the very heart of the attorney's responsibility to the public and the profession. We are, therefore, not inclined to leniency in bribery matters, absent mitigating factors in an individual case."

In determining the appropriate discipline for this Respondent, the aggravating factors of prior discipline, Standard 9.22(a) of the <u>Standard for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions</u>, as well as 9.22(b), dishonest or selfish motive, must also be considered.

Even without the foregoing aggravating factors, disbarment would be appropriate for this Respondent. The governing standards are 5.11(b) and 5.11(f). Those standards follow:

5.11 Disbarment is appropriate when:

5.11(b) a lawyer engages in serious criminal conduct, a necessary element of which includes intentional interference with the administration of justice, false swearing,

- 15 -

misrepresentation, fraud, extortion, misappropriation, or theft; or

5.11(f) a lawyer engaged in any other intentional conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation that seriously adversely reflects on the lawyer's fitness to practice.

In addition, innumerable cases have resulted in disbarment when bribery was involved. In addition to <u>Riccardi</u>, cited above, those cases are: <u>The Florida Bar v. Kastenbaum</u>, 263 So.2d 793 (Fla. 1972); <u>The Florida Bar v. Rendina</u>, 583 So.2d 314 (Fla. 1991); <u>The Florida Bar v. Rambo</u>, 530 So.2d 926 (Fla. 1988); <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Swickle</u>, 589 So.2d 901 (Fla. 1991); <u>The Florida Bar v. Calhoon</u>, 102 So.2d 604 (Fla. 1958).

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing reasons and citations of authority, The Florida Bar respectfully submits that the Referee's recommendation of disbarment should be accepted.

CYNTHIA LINDBLOOM Bar Counsel THE FLORIDA BAR No. 0016421 The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 Tel: (305) 377-4445

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director TFB No. 123390 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 Tel: (904) 561-5600

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS Staff Counsel TFB No. 0253847 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 Tel: (904) 561-5600